**FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
12/17/2018 1:05 PM**

Supreme Court No. _____ 96653-2

Court of Appeals No. 34859-8-III
(Consolidated with 34863-6-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

v.

MATTHEW MCCARTHY, Respondent

IN RE PERSONAL RESTRAINT OF:

MATTHEW MCCARTHY, Petitioner

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL
Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney

Brian C. O'Brien
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Samuel J. Comi
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Petitioner

County-City Public Safety Building
West 1100 Mallon

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND REQUEST FOR RELIEF

Comes now, the State of Washington, and requests this Court exercise discretionary review over the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. McCarthy*, No. 34859-8-III, attached hereto as an appendix, and referred to herein as “Opinion.”

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether a trial judge’s decision not to refer a criminal defendant for competency evaluation after a previous determination of competence on the same case is reviewed for an abuse of discretion?
2. Whether the Court of Appeals can invalidate a conviction upon finding a criminal defendant not competent without any evidence to rebut the presumption of competence?
3. Whether Washington law should incorporate California’s procedures and standards governing further questions of competency after a criminal defendant has been found competent to stand trial?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 21, 2014, Kayla Hierholzer¹ was at home with her two-year-old daughter in Spokane. Wittstock RP 48-49.² When she

¹ Ms. Hierholzer appears in some of the police reports by her maiden name Gonzalez, which is also used by Mr. McCarthy in his briefing on the PRP.

² The reports of proceedings are contained in five separately paginated sets of volumes that overlap chronologically. Each of the five sets contains

answered a knock at the door, she was confronted by Matthew McCarthy. *Id.* at 51-52. Mr. McCarthy asked for someone named Ellie, and Ms. Hierholzer told him that she did not know anyone by that name and he had the wrong place. *Id.* at 53. A brief argument ensued, and Ms. Hierholzer attempted to close the door. *Id.* Mr. McCarthy forced his way into the home, and Ms. Hierholzer hid until he left. *Id.* at 54-57. Mr. McCarthy believed that the Hierholzers had some connection to his ex-wife Laura, who he called Ellie. *Id.* at 157-60. He returned the next day, again looking for Laura. *Id.* at 85. Mr. McCarthy was subsequently arrested and charged with first degree burglary. CP 6.

Because of his substantial criminal history, and related mental health issues, Mr. McCarthy was immediately referred for a competency evaluation under RCW 10.77. There, Dr. Lord-Flynn noted that Mr. McCarthy had a detailed understanding of the legal proceedings against him. CP 447-53. They discussed at length Mr. McCarthy's beliefs that the victim was part of an elaborate conspiracy against him. CP 452. Despite those beliefs, he was able to acknowledge that he had no proof of anything,

multiple proceedings that were heard by the same judge and transcribed by one court reporter. Throughout this petition, the State will reference the reports of proceedings by indicating which court reporter prepared the pertinent volume.

that allegations alone would not carry much weight, and that he would consider these shortcomings in making decisions on the case. *Id.*

Following that evaluation, Mr. McCarthy's public defender, Kari Reardon, gave Dr. Lord-Flynn letters she had received from Mr. McCarthy that indicated that he was no longer able to give consideration to the lack of proof for his beliefs. CP 452. Upset with what he believed to be a violation of attorney-client privilege, Mr. McCarthy refused to engage in a follow-up interview with Dr. Lord-Flynn and demanded an immediate trial. *Id.* Dr. Lord-Flynn came to the conclusion that Mr. McCarthy understood the nature of the proceedings, but that he could not at that time make rational decisions. CP 452. Consequently, he requested a period of psychiatric treatment to restore competency. *Id.*

While undergoing restoration, Mr. McCarthy sent numerous letters to Ms. Reardon, asserting that he was competent and asking her to obtain a second opinion. Wittstock RP 6. Because she believed that Mr. McCarthy was not competent, she did not do so. *Id.* at 6. Mr. McCarthy then sent a complaint to the court, at which point Ms. Reardon sought a second opinion. *Id.* She brought in Dr. Debra Brown, who also concluded that Mr. McCarthy was not competent to stand trial. *See* CP 161-67 (Report of Dr. Brown). Dr. Brown looked to Mr. McCarthy's paranoia, concerning his

attorney, Ms. Reardon, and concluded that he was not competent as a result of his inability to work with Ms. Reardon. CP 167.

Following Mr. McCarthy's competency restoration, Dr. Lord-Flynn determined that he was competent. *See* CP 296-302 (March 16, 2015 Report). While Mr. McCarthy continued to express concerns about his current attorney, Dr. Lord-Flynn believed those problems to be specific to his working relationship with Ms. Reardon. CP 300-01. Dr. Lord-Flynn opined that Mr. McCarthy then possessed the capacity to assist in his own defense with a different defense attorney. CP 301. At the subsequent competency hearing, Ms. Reardon presented Dr. Brown's evaluation to undercut Dr. Lord-Flynn's more recent evaluation to argue that Mr. McCarthy remained incompetent. *See* Wittstock RP 1-15. Ms. Reardon also submitted her own declaration, attesting to her opinion of Mr. McCarthy's mental capacity. CP 169-75. The trial court considered this evidence and ordered a second 90-day stay to further restore competence. Wittstock RP 16-17.

At the end of the second, 90-day period, Dr. Lord-Flynn again evaluated Mr. McCarthy, with Dr. Brown present observing. CP 457. Dr. Lord-Flynn reported his interactions with Mr. McCarthy, as well as his observations and arrived at the conclusion that Mr. McCarthy was

competent to stand trial. CP 460-65. Defense counsel opposed this finding, and the matter proceeded to a jury trial on competence.

At trial, Mr. McCarthy continued to maintain that he was competent. Kerbs RP 347. However, he agreed that there was probably reason to question that at the start of his case. *Id.* at 347-48. He also testified about his mental health, and what happens when he is off medications. *Id.* at 350-52. Finally, he detailed the collapse of his working relationship with his attorney, including her unauthorized disclosure of privileged information. *Id.* at 350-59. Following Mr. McCarthy's testimony, both doctors testified to their opinions, and the jury found Mr. McCarthy competent to stand trial. *Id.* at 373-415 (Dr. Brown's opinion), 515-64 (Dr. Lord-Flynn's opinion), 688 (verdict).

Immediately following the competency trial, Ms. Reardon withdrew as counsel. *Id.* at 692. Mr. McCarthy then moved the court to proceed pro se, and Dennis Dressler was appointed as standby counsel. *Id.* at 700, 711-12. Following various motions, Mr. Dressler was appointed as counsel prior to trial. Cochran RP 100. The matter proceeded to trial and the jury convicted Mr. McCarthy of first-degree burglary. Wittstock RP 256. At no point did Mr. Dressler further question Mr. McCarthy's competence.

The case proceeded to appeal, where appellate counsel again raised the issue of Mr. McCarthy's competence at trial. The Court of Appeals

reversed the conviction after finding that the trial court should have questioned Mr. McCarthy's competence during the period between the competency trial and the criminal trial. *See* Opinion.

IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

Discretionary review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *State v. Coley*, 180 Wn.2d 543, 326 P.3d 702 (2014); *State v. Ortiz*, 104 Wn.2d 479, 482, 706 P.2d 1069 (1985) (herein *Ortiz I*); *State v. Ortiz*, 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992) (herein *Ortiz II*); and *State v. Tate*, 74 Wn.2d 261, 444 P.2d 150 (1968). Furthermore, the Court of Appeals created new procedures and standards addressing questions on a criminal defendants' competency. As a result, there is a substantial public interest justifying review by this court.

DEFERENCE TO TRIAL COURT

A person is competent to stand trial if he has the capacity to understand the nature of the proceedings against him and he can assist in his own defense. *Coley*, 180 Wn.2d at 551-52, *citing* RCW 10.77.050. Appellate courts defer to the trial court's judgment of a defendant's mental competency. *Ortiz I*, 104 Wn.2d at 482. Further, considerable weight is to be given to the attorney's opinion regarding his client's competency, particularly as it applies to his ability to assist the defense. *State v. Lord*,

117 Wn.2d 829, 901, 822 P.2d 177 (1991). As a result, determinations of a defendant's mental competency are only reversed upon a finding of an abuse of discretion. *Coley*, 180 Wn.2d at 551. Once a determination of competence has been made, the trial court is bound by that absent a showing that there has been a significant change in the defendant's mental status. *Ortiz II*, 119 Wn.2d at 300-01.

Following his competency trial by jury, Mr. McCarthy began representing himself. He then brought a variety of motions, including those found to be delusional by the Court of Appeals. However, at the time those motions were argued, the State raised the question whether Mr. McCarthy's delusions were resurfacing and could be affecting his decisions. Kerbs RP 715. The trial court considered this, but found that Mr. McCarthy was not any different than during the competency trial. Kerbs RP 716. The court considered at that time, and noted Mr. McCarthy's understanding of the procedures and the scope of his trial preparation. *Id.*

That determination was within the discretion of the trial court, and was well supported by the record. The record documents a fairly consistent level of paranoia and conspiratorial beliefs dating to the inception of the case. Both psychiatrists differed in their opinions of his competency, but neither noted any significant change between the time of the first competency hearing and the competency trial before the jury. The later

judicial determination that Mr. McCarthy was no different than at the competency trial was well-founded in the record.

However, because the specific judge who made that ruling was not the same judge that presided over the competency trial, the Court of Appeals afforded no deference to the trial court. *See* Opinion at *50. Instead of reviewing that decision for an abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals reviewed the record and substituted its own finding that Mr. McCarthy had substantially deteriorated since the competency trial. That determination conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Coley*, *Ortiz I*, and *Ortiz II*.

PRESUMPTION OF COMPETENCE

Assuming for the sake of argument that the Court of Appeals is correct that the trial court should have revisited the issue of competence, the remedy ordered conflicts with established precedent. It is a fundamental principle that an incompetent person may not stand trial. *Coley*, 180 Wn.2d at 551. However, defendants are presumed to be competent, and the burden to prove otherwise is on the party challenging competence. *Id.* at 552. Upon finding that a question exists as to the defendant's competency at the time of trial, an evidentiary hearing must be conducted to resolve the factual question. *See Tate*, 74 Wn.2d 261 (remanding for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the defendant was competent at the time of trial).

Mr. McCarthy was found to be competent by a jury. He was subsequently convicted at trial without further question as to his competency. On appeal, the Court of Appeals determined that there should have been further questions asked. Upon making that determination, the court is left with an unresolved question whether Mr. McCarthy was competent at the time of trial, and the presumption that he in fact was competent. The only way to resolve the issue is to order an evidentiary hearing.

However, without any such hearing, the Court of Appeals resolved the issue, vacating Mr. McCarthy's conviction. Without any evidence, the Court of Appeals determined that a retrospective evaluation would be difficult. Opinion at 54-55. Because of that speculative difficulty, the Court of Appeals simply vacates Mr. McCarthy's conviction, effectively presuming that he was incompetent at trial. This conflicts with the well-established presumption that a criminal defendant is competent. It further conflicts with this Court's ruling in *Tate*, prescribing exactly the sort of evidentiary hearing that the Court of Appeals rejected. *Tate*, 74 Wn.2d at 268.

PUBLIC INTEREST

Finally, this matter involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court of Appeals

has explicitly adopted California law to govern standards and procedures addressing criminal competency after the exhaustion of RCW 10.77 procedures. The majority and dissenting opinions both highlight the need for standards governing revisiting the question of competency. Public interest supports this Court reviewing that adoption to create certainty over the law in Washington.

V. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in *State v. McCarthy*, as it is in conflict with precedent from this Court and involves issues of substantial public interest. That decision ignores well-established precedent from this Court, and instead crafts new procedures and standards to fill the void. Review by this Court is necessary to address these discrepancies and create certainty in how courts address continuing questions over a criminal defendant's competency.