FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/18/2019 4:37 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Accepted for filing see letter dated 1/28/19

NO. 966532

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

V.

MATTHEW SEAN MCCARTHY, Respondent.

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

TANESHA LA'TRELLE CANZATER Attorney for Matthew Sean McCarthy Post Office Box 29737 Bellingham, Washington 98228-1737 (360) 362-2435

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For purposes here, we adopt the facts Division Three relied on to base its decision in State v. McCarthy.

V. RESPONDENT'S REACTIONS TO THE STATE'S REASONS FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The criteria for which this court will accept review are constrained by the very specific and limited circumstances described in RAP 13.4(b). This Court will only grant a petitioner's request for review if the court of appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this court or with another court of appeals' decision; involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; or involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

The State insists "discretionary review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4)," because State v. Matthew Sean McCarthy, 429 P.3d 1086 (Wash. Ct. App. 2018) conflicts with this Court's decisions in State v. Coley, 180 Wn.2d 543, 326 P.3d 702 (2014); State v. Ortiz, 104 Wn.2d 479, 482, 706 P.2d 1069 (1985) (Ortiz I); State v. Ortiz, 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992) (Ortiz II); and State v. Tate, 74 Wn.2d 261, 444 P.2d 150 (1968). And, it creates new procedures and standards that address questions on a criminal defendants' competency. State's Pet. Rev. 7-8.

We believe <u>State v. McCarthy</u> reinforces the responsibility our legislature has entrusted trial courts under RCW 10.77.060 to ensure mentally ill defendants are not erroneously found competent to stand trial. For that reason, we generally agree review should be accepted.

DEFERENCE TO TRIAL COURT

The State maintains Division Three afforded no deference to the trial court because the specific judge who found Mr. McCarthy competent to stand trial, despite evidence of Mr. McCarthy deteriorating mental health, was not the same judge that

presided over the competency trial. State's Pet. Rev. 8. According to State, Division Three reviewed the record and substituted its own finding that Mr. McCarthy's mental health had substantially deteriorated since the competency trial instead of reviewing the trial court's decision for an abuse of discretion. And, that determination conflicts with this Court's decisions in Coley, Ortiz I, and Ortiz II.

When fundamental constitutional rights are at issue, like the right to due process here, Division Three is not bound to review the record for an abuse of discretion.

Instead, it is *required* (emphasis added) to make an independent examination of the record to determine whether such rights have been denied. <u>U.S. Const. amend. XIV</u>;

Haynes v. Washington, 373 U.S. 503, 83 S.Ct. 1336, 10 L.Ed.2d 513 (1963); State v.

Hoffman, 64 Wn.2d 445, 392 P.2d 237 (1964).

PRESUMPTION OF COMPETENCE

The State asks this Court to assume for the sake of argument Division Three is correct the trial court should have revisited the issue of competence. But, the remedy ordered conflicts with established precedent. The State criticizes Division Three's decision to vacate Mr. McCarthy's conviction because it effectively presumes he was incompetent at trial, which conflicts with the well-established presumption that a criminal defendant is competent. State's Pet. Rev. 8-9.

"Competence to stand trial is the most significant mental health inquiry pursued in the system of criminal law." *See* Stone A: Mental health and the law: a system in transition. Rockville, MD: National Institute of Mental Health, 1975. It is a fundamental principle of state and federal law that incompetent defendants may not stand trial. State v. Coley, 180 Wn. 2d 543, 551, 326 P.3d 702, 706 (2014). This right is protected by the

due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>See U.S. Const. amend. XIV</u>. The law attempts to balance the liberty interests and due process concerns of a defendant who has not been convicted of a crime with the state's interest in a fair and accurate adjudication of criminal cases. <u>See Kathleen Powers and Martin O. Sellom: Assessment of Competence to Stand Trial, 15 April 2003.</u>

McCarthy highlights the fact that although a defendant may seem competent at one point during trial, the presumption of competence must be overcome whenever, in light of the defendant's history, there is bona fide evidence to the contrary. Given that, "a trial court must always be alert to circumstances suggesting a change that would render the accused unable to meet the standards of competence to stand trial." Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162 (1975).

Here, Mr. McCarthy was convicted and sentenced to life in prison without the possibility for parole, after the trial court essentially ignored evidence or instances that should have triggered the need to suspend trial proceedings so that Mr. McCarthy could undergo another mental health evaluation. Div. III Opinion 10. Vacating Mr. McCarthy's conviction is the only appropriate remedy Division Three could have imposed under these circumstances.

PUBLIC INTEREST

Finally, the State argues this matter involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). State's Pet. Rev. 9-10. We agree.

State v. McCarthy offers a solution to the rather problematic relationship between our court system, as it is, and mentally ill offenders, which could not have come at more urgent time. Research shows our country is experiencing a mental health crisis, where

the mentally ill are more likely to encounter police than get medical help. As a result, some 2 million people with mental illness are booked into jails each year. On a national level, nearly 15% of men and 30% of women booked into jails have a serious mental health condition. *See* National Alliance on Mental Health: Jailing People with Mental Illness, https://www.nami.org/learn-more/public-policy/jailing-people-with-mental-illness. The data for our state is as compelling.

VI. CONCLUSION

For reasons we argue above, we ask this Court to consider our reactions to the State's petition for review.